1983

## Wilma Hall v. The Industrial Commission of the State of Utah, City Cab Company, State Insurance Fund, and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Plaintiff

NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a review of the proceedings before the Industrial Commission of Utah culminating in an Order by the Commission denying additional Workman's Compensation benefits to the Plaintiff Wilma Hall.

STATEMENT OF FACTS  
AND DISPOSITION BELOW

On March 9, 1981, the Plaintiff was involved in an automobile accident during the course of her employment with the Defendant City Cab Company. Plaintiff sustained injuries to her neck, back and other parts of her body. The Plaintiff was 62 years

of age as of the date of the accident. The Plaintiff has weighed approximately 275 lbs. for most of her life (Record p. 28). She has been under a doctor's care for this and other problems relating to her heart for some 20 years (Record p. 30). She has been given various diets by treating physicians all her life with minimal success (Record p. 38). In spite of her weight problem, she was remarkably active--working regularly, bowling in three leagues, hunting, fishing and doing her own shopping and housekeeping (Record, p. 27). Although the medical panel gave her 20% permanent partial pre-existing impairment for her degenerative arthritis of the entire spine, she had no problems with pain in her neck or back prior to the accident and had never seen a doctor for neck or back problems prior to the accident (Record p. 29).

Within a very short period following the accident she gained even more weight so that she now weighs in the vicinity of 400 lbs., although this cannot be verified because the doctors' scales do not go over 350 lbs. (Record p. 27). As of the date of the hearing on November 22, 1982, she had not been released by a doctor to return to work (Record p. 35).

Since the accident, she has had continuous pain in her neck and low back, loss of strength in her arms and legs, difficulty holding objects, problems walking, falling episodes to the point

she has resorted to a wheel chair, which she gave up only because she could not afford to make the rental payments (Record pp. 24, 25).

The employer paid medical expenses and temporary total disability benefits to September 15, 1981, and permanent partial disability benefits for 10% of the whole person. The Plaintiff applied for additional benefits and the matter was duly scheduled for hearing and subsequently referred to a medical panel for evaluation. The medical panel found she had a 10% impairment due to the industrial injury. They found she had a pre-existing impairment due to degenerative arthritis of the spine equal to 20%. They did not distinguish or break down this figure as between the cervical, thoracic or lumbar spine, though all were affected. They found she had a pre-existing impairment due to hypertensive cardiovascular disease equal to 5%. They also found she had an impairment equal to 30% due to her hypothyroidism and obesity. The medical panel then "found" that: "The industrial accident did not result in permanent incapacity substantially greater than (sic) the applicant would have incurred had she not had the pre-existing capacity (sic)."

The administrative law judge adopted the findings of the medical panel as his own, over the objections of the Plaintiff, and entered an order denying additional benefits. Motion for Review was filed and the Commission upheld the decision of the law judge.



Plaintiff made a motion for referral to the Department of Rehabilitation for determination as to whether or not the Plaintiff was a candidate for training for any other job skills or was, in fact, unemployable due to her advanced age, prior education, job skills and physical impairments. This motion was also denied.

The Utah Legislature in its 1981 session amended §35-1-69 in such a manner that its application would make the additional award mandatory. It did not take effect, however, until approximately two months after the date Plaintiff's accident occurred.

#### RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks an Order of this Court directing a reversal of the denial of benefits, the award of appropriate benefits from the Second Injury Fund, and referral to the Department of Rehabilitation for determination of the Plaintiff's employability and capacity for retraining, and if then appropriate, for an award of permanent total disability.

ARGUMENT

POINT I THE COMMISSION ERRED IN ITS HOLDING THAT THE ACCIDENT DID NOT RESULT IN PERMANENT INCAPACITIES SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER THAN THE APPLICANT WOULD HAVE INCURRED HAD SHE NOT HAD THE PRE-EXISTING INCAPACITIES.

On March 9, 1981, relevant parts of §35-1-69, Utah Code Annotated (1953 as amended) read as follows:

If any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity by accidental injury, disease, or congenital causes, sustains an industrial injury for which compensation and medical care is provided by this title that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity, compensation and medical care, . . . , shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries, but the liability of the employer for such compensation and medical care shall be for the industrial injury only and the remainder shall be paid out of the special fund provided for in section 35-1-68(1) hereinafter referred to as the "special fund."

This Court has clearly established by judicial interpretation the meaning of §35-1-69 as it existed on March 9, 1981. In the case of Intermountain Smelting Corporation v. Capitano, 610 P.2d 334, (Utah 1980), this Court held the employer to be responsible only for the percentage of compensation and medical care which the industrial injury bears to the applicant's total disability. The administrative law judge in the instant case cites the Capitano case, but distinguishes it on the basis of

two injuries in Capitano had an inter-relationship. In his findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law he states:

Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge is unaware of any Supreme Court case that has required the payment of Second Injury Fund benefits for pre-existing conditions where the pre-existing conditions have been unrelated to the industrial accident.

In the case of Kincheloe v. Coca Cola Bottling Company of Utah, 656 P.2d 440, (Utah 1982), this Court cited the Capitano case and then quoted from the administrative law judge's reasoning in Kincheloe as follows:

Furthermore, the subsequent injury of February 12, 1980 in which the Applicant sustained a herniated disc on the left side of L5-S1 is unrelated to the prior injury.

The same argument, in effect, is set forth here. The Court upheld the Commission in denying benefits in that case but on different grounds entirely, and in the course of their reasoning at Page 442 of the P.2d Reporter stated as follows:

Under the reasoning of Capitano, the fact that the 1980 injury is unrelated to the 1974 injury is not dispositive. Irrespective of any causal connection, the second injury fund is to compensate one who sustains "permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity."

It is clear that the status of the law as of March 9, 1981, was that the combined disabilities if substantially greater would be compensable.

In the case of Intermountain Health Care, Inc. v. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617, this Court stated that the term "substantially greater"

. . . simply means that it be some definite and measurable portion of the causation of the disability.

The case did not require that there be a relationship between the two. At page 619, this Court stated:

Consequently, inasmuch as it appears that the pre-existing condition increased the resulting disability by one third, it follows that under the requirements of the statute, the medical expenses as well as the compensation award should have been apportioned two thirds from the employer and one third from the special fund.

Since the one third considered was 10%, the Court clearly stated that 10% pre-existing condition was substantial.

The Utah Legislature amended §35-1-69 in its 1981 session which, although it did not take effect until after this accident, is relevant in ascertaining the status of the law at the time of the accident. The amended sections as relevant are as follows:

If any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity by accidental injury, disease or congenital causes, sustains an industrial injury for which either compensation and or medical care, or both, is provided by this title that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity, or which aggravates or is aggravated by such pre-existing incapacity, compensation and , medical care, which medical care and other related items are as outlined in §35-1-81, shall be awarded

on the basis of the combined injuries, but the liability of the employer for such compensation and , medical care , and other related items shall be for the industrial injury only and the remainder shall be paid out of the special second injury fund provided for in § 35-1-68(1) hereinafter referred to as "special fund".

For purposes of this section, (a) any aggravation of a pre-existing injury, disease, or congenital cause shall be deemed "substantially greater", and compensation, medical care, and other related items shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries as provided above; provided, however, that (b) where there is no such aggravation, no award for combined injuries shall be made unless the percentage of permanent physical impairment attributable to the industrial injury is 10% or greater and the percentage of permanent physical impairment resulting from all causes and conditions, including the industrial injury, is greater than 20%. [e.a.]

It is clear by the fact that the Legislature added, in the first paragraph above, the words "or which aggravates or is aggravated by such pre-existing incapacity, . . ." that they considered the interpretations of the prior law by this Court to clearly state that the pre-existing condition did not need to aggravate or be aggravated by the industrial injury but merely that the resultant combined disability be "substantially greater" than would have been the result but for the pre-existing incapacity.

Further, by way of restriction, not by way of expansion of the law, the second paragraph sets forth the threshold that from the effective date of the law, pre-existing conditions which did not aggravate or were not directly aggravated by the

industrial injury would not be compensated for unless the industrial injury itself resulted in at least a 10% permanent physical impairment and the combined impairment is greater than 20%. Thus, the Legislature clearly understood the Ortega, Capitanc and Kincheloe decisions of this Court consistent with Plaintiff's interpretation above.

With these preliminary concepts, it is now a simple matter to apply the law as it existed on March 9, 1981, to the facts of the present case.

A. THE DEGENERATIVE ARTHRITIS OF THE SPINE RESULTED IN SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER INCAPACITY.

The medical panel found the degenerative arthritis of the spine to constitute a pre-existing impairment equivalent to 20% of the whole person. Under the reasoning of the administrative law judge, the pre-existing condition would have to be related in some way to the injuries sustained in the industrial accident. In the Medical Panel Report at page 303 of the Record, x-rays of the spine were reviewed and the following impressions noted:

Impression: Early degenerative changes in the lower cervical spine.

Impression: Degenerative disc disease of the thoraco-lumbar spine as described above.

The medical panel then concluded on page 9 of its report (Record p. 304), that applicant suffered permanent partial impairment

... a result of the degenerative arthritis of the spine in an amount of 20% of the whole person.

There was no breakdown by the medical panel as to what part of the spine resulted in what part of that 20%. The Plaintiff complained of pain in both her neck and low back subsequent to the accident. It would, therefore, be presumed that the disability must relate to those two areas.

On page 9 of the Medical Report (Record, p. 304), the medical panel stated:

(6) . . . . It is possible that had she not had degenerative cervical arthritis of her spine the symptoms in her neck at the time of her accident would have been considerably less, would not have been so prolonged and would not have rendered any permanent physical impairment. This would be anticipated . . . .

But then, the medical panel adds:

. . . but is speculative.

If it is to be anticipated, then the speculation comes on the side of denial, not on the side of acceptance. This Court has clearly stated on numerous occasions that doubts as to coverage should be resolved in favor of the employee (Jones v. California Parking, 244 P.2d 640, (Utah 1952)). In the Jones case, this Court stated:

This court has repeatedly held that the Workman's Compensation Act should be liberally construed to effectuate its purposes, and where there is doubt, it should be resolved

in favor of coverage of the employee.  
[citations omitted]

The medical panel goes on and in the following paragraph states:

. . . . Except for the cervical area there is no relationship between the industrial accident and the other medical problems and physical impairment that she has . . . .

and again in the following paragraph:

Except for the cervical area there is no relationship between the industrial accident and the other medical problems and physical impairment that she has.

Thus, the medical panel has effectively found and stated in three separate statements on the same page under the same numbered paragraph (6), in three separate subparagraphs of that division, that there is a relationship between the industrial accident and the pre-existing problems of the cervical spine.

The administrative law judge concluded at page 5 of the Findings of Fact (Record p. 316):

. . . . Had the applicant not had her pre-existing problems, the medical panel speculated that she may not have sustained any permanent physical impairment as a result of her industrial accident. Because of the pre-existing problems, at least to a **substantial extent**, the applicant does now have a 10% residual impairment in her cervical area . . . . [e.a.]

The error the administrative law judge makes at this point is that the medical panel found pre-existing conditions of the spine, part of which was obviously relating to the cervical



due to the degenerative arthritis. The 10% awarded by the medical panel is clearly identified and based on the severe degree of fibrositis and the difficulty she has in that function. (Record p. 299). This is summarized out of Dr. Dituri's evaluation and is clearly the basis on which the medical panel awarded the 10% arising out of the industrial accident. There is definitely a pre-existing arthritic condition of the spine which directly relates to the soft tissue injury sustained in the accident.

Under the cases of Ortega, supra p. 7, Capitano, supra p. 5, and Kincheloe, supra p. 6, however, there does not have to be a relationship. It cannot be said, particularly in light of the figures in Ortega, that 20% pre-existing impairment is not substantial. It is also clear from Ortega, that 10% arising out of the accident is substantial. The 20% combined with the 10% through the Combined Values Chart of the Guides to Evaluation of Permanent Impairment, American Medical Association, Chicago, Illinois, attached hereto as Appendix A, would result in 28% permanent impairment. If this in turn, without any other consideration, translated directly into disability, she would be entitled to 18% in addition to what was awarded.

B. THE HYPERTENSIVE CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RESULTED IN SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER INCAPACITY.

The medical panel found the Plaintiff had a disability of 5% as a result of hypertensive cardiovascular disease. Cardiovascular

disease affects the entire function of the body. It would be difficult to understand how the disability of the cardiovascular system did not relate to any subsequent injuries or impairments. But again, under Ortega, Capitano and Kincheloe, it is not necessary that there be a relationship between the two impairments; merely that the resultant disability is substantially greater. The medical panel found that she had 5% pre-existing impairment due to her cardiovascular disease absent all other considerations. The pre-existing 5% combined with 10% from the accident according to the Combined Values Chart, attached as Appendix A, would result in a total impairment of 14%. Thus, there would be an increase of 9%. The Ortega case dealt with 10% and 20%. The question then becomes: Is 14% substantially greater than 10%? It is noted in the case of Northwest Carriers Inc. v. Industrial Commission-Ingersoll v. Camp, 639 P.2.d 138 (Utah 1981)--there were actually two cases heard together by the Court--this Court approved the combining of a 3% pre-existing impairment with a 65% industrial impairment for purposes of dividing responsibility between the Second Injury Fund and the industrial carrier. It is clear then, and dictated by logic, that 4% is a substantial increase in physical impairment.

C. THE HYPOTHYROIDISM AND OBESITY RESULTED IN SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER INCAPACITY.

The medical panel found Mrs. Hall 30% disabled for her

obesity. They do not identify this as concurrent, but suggest it to be pre-existing; however, under paragraph 5 of the Medical Panel Report, they state: "Previously existing and concurrent physical impairment is 47%." [e.a.] (Record, p.304). Since there is no question as to the hypertensive cardiovascular disease and the degenerative arthritis of the spine pre-existing, the only concurrent "disability" would be a portion of the obesity. In any event, the obesity constitutes 30% disability which the medical panel finds, by implication of its inclusion, to be permanent. There should be no question that her weight "problem" is permanent. The only question could be as to whether or not the excess weight is permanent. It has now been with her for two and one-half years.

If the total obesity problem were to be ignored, the remaining disabilities found by the Panel to pre-exist the accident total 32% after adjustment by the American Medical Association's Guides to Evaluation to Permanent Impairment, Combined Values Chart, Appendix A. If this 32%, which includes the unquestioned pre-existing impairment for cardiovascular disease and degenerative arthritis, and the 10% from the accident is combined with the 30% for the obesity, part of which is obviously pre-existing, under the Combined Values Chart, the total obesity increases her total impairment by 20%. If the 10% found in Ortega is substantial, then the 20% in the instant case must also be substantial. It

is clear under the Ortega, Capitano and Kincheloe cases that at least the pre-existing weight problem "is compensable." It seems incredible to argue that an obesity problem that has been in existence for 62 years is not permanent.

D. THE COMBINED EFFECTS OF ARTHRITIC SPINE, HYPERTENSIVE CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE, HYPOTHYROIDISM AND OBESITY RESULTED IN SUBSTANTIALLY GREATER INCAPACITY.

It is elementary logic that if each of the elements of disability pre-existing discussed in Points I A, B, and C above, are substantially greater, the combined whole and effect of the whole is substantially greater. The more appropriate question, perhaps, relates to the total overall effect of the combined pre-existing conditions.

For purposes of argument, we take the 20% pre-existing degenerative arthritis of the spine, combine it with the 5% hypertensive cardiovascular disease, we have 24%. If we assume that one-half of the 30% obesity related to pre-existing and one-half is concurrent, this combines with the 24% for 35% pre-existing impairment. Thus, she would be a 65% person as of the date of the accident. As a 65% person, she was functional. By adding 10% from the accident for cervical injury, combined values total 42% and at 42% she was a 58% person. As a 58% person she could not function. The reality of the situation is that, based on her inability to function and her lack of activity imposed by

the injury, she lost an additional 15%, bringing her total disability to 51%.<sup>1</sup> Very few 62 year old workers could be retrained to function in the competitive job market with only 48% or 49% of their capacity.

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