1983

# Wilma Hall v. The Industrial Commission of the State of Utah, City Cab Company, State Insurance Fund, and Second Injury Fund : Brief of Respondent Second Injury Fund

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

#### ARGUMENT

#### POINT I

Appellant Hall is NOT entitled to Worker's Compensation Benefits for her pre-existing obesity, heart and arthritis problems because such previous incapacities did NOT substantially increase the industrial injury to her cervical area.

The Industrial Commission acted properly in affirming the ruling of the Administrative Law Judge that "the evidence does not support a finding that the industrial accident resulted in permanent incapacity substantially greater than the applicant would have incurred if she had not had a pre-existing incapacity." (R.317)

The controlling statute in providing benefits on the basis of combined injuries is under Utah Code Ann. §35-1-69

If any employee who has previously incurred a permanent incapacity... sustains an industrial injury... that results in permanent incapacity which is substantially greater than he would have incurred if he had not had the pre-existing incapacity... (benefits) shall be awarded on the basis of the combined injuries...

The above statute requires the Commission to make a finding whether the industrial injury resulted in a "substantially greater" incapacity because of the pre-existing conditions before the combined inquiries can be awarded. This requires a showing from the Appellants that the previous

incapacities had the "effect" of substantially increasing the industrial impairment. No such showing was made in this case.

The test for invoking combined benefits under Section 69 was set forth in U.S.F. & G. v. Industrial Commission of Utah, 657 P.2d 764 (Utah 1983).

"... statutory authority exists to apportion compensation awards... between employers and the Second Injury Fund, provided pertinent conditions are met... (1) (previous) permanent incapacity occasioned by accidental injury, disease or congenital causes, followed by (2) subsequent injury resulting in further permanent incapacity which is (3) substantially greater than that which would have been incurred had there been no pre-existing incapacity... therefore... the Commission is statutorily obligated to determine whether the subsequent injuries sustained... have resulted in further permanent incapacity which is substantially greater...

This Court conclusively resolved the issue of "substantially greater than" in Day's Market, Inc. v. Muir, 669 P.2d 440 (Utah 1983). In Muir, the Commission denied the worker combined benefits under Section 69 because he had failed to show that the pre-existing incapacity had the effect of substantially increasing the industrial impairment. Muir held that the "(Second Injury) Fund's only application is where the current incapacity is substantially greater ...this language requires a finding as to the effect the pre-existing incapacity has upon the current (industrial) incapacity." (Emphasis added).

In the case at bar, the Commission and Judge ruled that the industrial injury of 10% to her cervical area was not

"substantially greater" because of the pre-existing problems. The decision established in essence that Ms. Hall sustained a 10% neck injury from the automobile accident regardless if she had or didn't have her prior obesity, heart or arthritis problems. The 10% injury of the cervical area was caused by the industrial accident when her cab was hit broadside and that the previous conditions did not cause, contribute to or effect the industrial injury of 10%.

Appellant Hall and Appellant carrier erroneously argue that a mere comparison of numbers is sufficient proof of "substantially greater." These abstract mathematical comparisons that 14% is substantially greater than 10% (Brief of Hall, p.13), or that 28% is substantially greater than 10% (same Brief, p.12) does not meet the test of proving substantially greater. The Appellant insurance carrier commits the same error by arguing (Brief of State Insurance Fund p.9) that "mere numbers ... indicate that Ms. Hall's obesity resulted in a permanent incapacity substantially greater". This conclusion was needed when the carrier attempted to compare the obesity incapacity of 30% with the total combined impairment of 52% in concluding that 52% is substantially greater than 22%.

The error of both Appellants is illustrated by this hypothetical example: Mr. X, a paraplegic accountant, is injured on the job. Mr. X is examined by a medical panel,

finding that as a result of the industrial accident Mr. X sustained a 10% injury to his left hand and because of prior problems with his legs, he has a previous incapacity of 100%. It is now illogical for the worker or carrier to combine the 10% industrial injury of the hand with the total impairment of 100% to conclude that 100% is substantially greater than 10% in contending that the hand injury is substantially greater because of his legs. The 10% hand injury was caused by the accidental injury and none of the 10% injury was effected by the prior leg problems.

Regardless of the inaccuracy of such comparisons, the Appellant carrier makes this exact argument when it combined the 10% industrial injury of the cervical area with the total impairment of 52% to conclude:

"... it is obvious that the disability suffered by Ms. Hall due to the industrial injury is greater because of her pre-existing conditions. Certainly, 52% is substantially greater than 10%." (Brief of State Insurance Fund, p.16 and p.9).

Such mathematical comparisons tend to confuse the Court and distort the issue of "substantially greater." The reasoning of the Appellants is contrary to Day's Market, Inc. v. Muir, supra, that "Findings in the abstract as to the total of pre-existing obesity, heart and arthritis ratings with the industrial neck injury to make a finding of substantially greater is entering "Findings in the Abstract" to reach a wrong conclusion.

A more logical comparison would be to state that prior to the accident Ms. Hall had a total combined impairment of 47% and that after the accident she had a 52%. Thus, her impairment rating increased from 47% to 52%.

The method with much more validity is to first examine what effect the industrial accident had upon the worker's cervical area to ascertain what portion of the impairment is attributable to the accident. Secondly, determine what effect, if any, the previous obesity, heart and arthritis conditions had upon the industrial neck injury which might have substantially increased the industrial impairment.

In the instant case, the evidence shows that Ms. Hall first experienced problems with her neck immediately after the accident (R.233, 19-21). Before the accident, this worker did not have pre-existing problems in the cervical area (R.300, 39-40) and never lost time from work because of neck or back problems (R. 29, 300). the record further indicates that she never had any medical care or x-rays for neck or back difficulties prior to the accident (R. 29,35). Even the Appellant's brief does not describe prior problems with her neck or back whatsoever until she sustained the accidental injury:

"... In spite of her weight problem, she was remarkably active -- working regularly, bowling in three leagues, hunting, fishing and doing her own shopping and housekeeping. (R.27). Although the medical panel gave her 20% permanent partial pre-existing impairment for her degenerative arthritis of the entire spine, she had no problems with pain in her neck or back prior to the accident..." (Brief of Hall, P.2)

such evidence clearly establishes that the 10% neck injury was caused by the industrial accident and the 10% injury was not affected by her pre-existing conditions.

The Judge acted correctly in asking the Medical panel to address the issue of substantially greater. In the Medical panel report, Dr. Boyd G. Holbrook answered the Judge's question (R. 296-304).

"(6) The industrial accident did not result in permanent incapacity substantially greater than the applicant would have incurred had she not had the pre-existing capacity..."

With regard to what effect the obesity problem may have had on the neck injury, Dr. Alan P. Macfarlane, a panel member, stated (R. 285):

"My conclusions have to be that her obesity is not due to inactivity imposed by the accident and the neck and back pain claims, but rather due to overindulgence in caloric intake... there is no essential finding of unavoidable obesity since the day of the accident..."

The doctor also examined the effects of the prior heart condition (R. 285):

"In regard to the heart diseases, though there is no objective evidence of heart disease and on none of her several hospitalizations for chest pain has a myocardial infarction occurred... I nevertheless will honor Dr. Null's diagnosis of coronary heart disease... but it is important to note from Dr. Null's record that he had not seen her between September 1981 and October 1982 which I would have expected to have occurred if her pain was really significantly worse. When he did see her in

October 1982, electrocardiogram remained normal and unchanged. Therefore, I see no reason to consider that her heart disease is worse..."

Dr. Macfarlane answered the Judge's question on substantially greater as follows (R.285):

"In particular question 6, seems to me should be answered in the negative in light of my reasoning concerning her obesity and coronary heart symptoms..."

Concerning the prior arthritis in the back and its effect on the industrial neck injury of 10%, Dr. Holbrooke states (R.300-304):

"There is pain from the base of her skull all the way down her spine to the tailbone. This started six or seven months after the accident... It is possible that had she not had degenerative cervical arthritis of her spine the symptoms in her neck at the time of the accident would have been considerably less... but is speculative." (Emphasis added)

The greater weight of the medical and factual evidence supports the Judge's conclusion that prior conditions did not make the industrial injury substantially greater. Dr. F. Clyde Null's medical report of November 14, 1981 supports the theory that the history of obesity and heart problems have not changed her condition over the years (R.80). The St. Marks Hospital records substantiate that Ms. Hall has never been able to control her weight and has a longstanding history of anginal syndrome (R.160-161). Dr. M. Romney of the Holy Cross Hospital states:

"This... lady was involved in a motor vehicle accident on March 9, 1981. She states that immediately after the accident she had the onset of her neck pain...

Based upon the findings of the Medical Panel and all the records in this case, the Industrial Commission of Utah properly affirmed the ruling of the Judge that the claim for combined benefits for obesity, heart or arthritis pre-existing conditions should be denied because the previous incapacities did not effect or make the industrial cervical injury "substantially greater" than it would have been "but for" the pre-existing incapacities. Day's Market, Inc. v. Muir, supra.

#### POINT II

Appellant Carrier is not entitled to a 90% reimbursement of temporary disability or medical benefit paid for the industrial injury because the pre-existing obesity, heart and arthritis conditions did not contribute or effect the need for such benefits.

This point is an important issue that is causing many appeals to this court. The problem of reimbursement has been a primary cause of the increase in litigation at the Commission and appeals to the Supreme Court. Insurance carriers have been denying full payment of temporary total disability and medical benefits because of pre-existing conditions, which may or may not be effecting the accidental injury. Often the issue is not whether these benefits should be paid but who should pay for them.

Larson in his Workmen's Compensation at

59.32(g) says:

Necessity that second injury add to prior disability "Although the prior impairment need not combine with the compensable injury in any special way, it must add something to the disability before the special fund can become liable. In other words, it is not enough to show that claimant had some kind of handicap, if that handicap contributed nothing to the final disability. For example, pre-existing partial loss of hearing was not a basis for shifting part of compensation liability to the Special Fund when the ultimate disability took the form of silicosis or an injured hand."

This rule applies in this case and would preclude an apportionment of benefits between the State Insurance Fund and the Second Injury Fund when the prior conditions are unrelated and in no way contribute to the problems being treated. The State Insurance Fund, however, reasons that it should be reimbursed at 42/52 or 90% of all such benefits paid based on the findings that Ms. Hall had prior incapacities. This carrier combines all the unrelated previous incapacities of 30% obesity, 5% heart and 20% arthritis on the combined values chart to find that the total pre-existing condition equals 47%, then the carrier erroneously argues that since Ms. Hall had a total impairment of 52% after the accident from all causes and conditions, the Second Injury Fund is liable for 47/52 or 90% of temporary disability and medical benefits and the State Insurance Fund is liable for 5/52 or 10%.

The statutory language of The Act does not support such a contention where the need of the benefits was caused by the industrial injury. §35-1-50 requires that the carrier State Insurance Fund shall pay for compensation and medical services for injuries arising out of the course of employment. §35-1-45 provides that every worker injured on the job shall be entitled to compensation and medical treatment from the carrier for said industrial injuries.

It was never the intent of the Act to require the Second Injury Fund to pay for medical costs and temporary disability solely necessitated by an industrial accident. Section 35-1-69 provides that the liability of the employer's carrier shall be for the industrial injury and that portion made substantially greater by prior incapacities shall be the liability of the Second Injury Fund. If as in this case, the previous incapacities consists of obesity, heart and arthritis and the industrial injury is to the cervical area, such benefits should not be apportioned because of obesity, heart and arthritis problems. The reimbursement of benefits based on overweight, heart and arthritis becomes an adjudicative nightmare in deciding who should pay for what, thereby causing a tremendous increase in litigation.

This Court ruled that "if the requirement of the statute is met, that is, if the resulting permanent incapacity is substantially greater than if the permanent incapacity had not existed, proportional causation must be found."

Intermountain Health Care Inc. v. Ortega, 562 P.2d 617 (Utah 1977). Consequently, if it is reasonable for the Law Judge to conclude from all the evidence that the worker did not sustain an industrial incapacity which is substantially greater, there is no apportionment and no application of the Second Injury Fund. Kincheloe v. Coca-Cola Bottling Co., 656 P.2d 440 (Utah 1982). Intermountain Health Care held that the requirement that the pre-existing combines with the later industrial injury to cause a substantially greater means that the increase caused by the prior conditions must be some definite and measurable portion of the causation. Such was not the case with Ms. Hall who had no prior problems with her cervical neck area before the accident and who had all her neck and back problems caused by the industrial accident. Therefore, the party (City Cab and State Insurance Fund) who created the problem should pay for it.

The Respondent Secondary Injury Fund prays that temporary disability and medical benefits should not be reimbursed at 90% where the previous conditions did not contribute to the lost time from work or need for medical care. That the employer's carrier, State Insurance Fund, is the sole responsible party to pay for such benefits arising out of the course or employment.

### POINT III

An overweight condition or obesity does not constitute a permanent incapacity, or disability under the Worker's Compensation Act.

Obesity is not a permanent disability covered under §35-1-66 or a permanent incapacity under §35-1-69 of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953. The applicant has a long history of overweight problems; however, the medical doctors recommend that a proper diet and exercise program can significantly improve this condition.

In Larsen's "Workmen's Compensation" he emphasizes:

Necessity that prior impairment be permanent in character. "Often by express statutory language, and sometimes by decisional law, the Second Injury Fund is held to apply only when the prior injury is permanent in character." 59.32(h)

And in Utah the law clearly requires that the pre-existing incapacity be permanent. 35-1-69 UCA.

In Shirley v. Triangle Maintenance Corp., 41 A.D. 2d 800, 341 NYS 2d 709 obesity was held not to be a permanent prior disability for which the Second Injury Fund would be held responsible.

### POINT IV

The Order of the Industrial Commission shall be affirmed when supported by substantial evidence.

The Order of the Industrial Commission must be confirmed when supported by substantial evidence and reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom.